BYLAWS – MONUMENT BUILDERS OF THE GREAT LAKES

Effective: June 12, 2023

ARTICLE I

Name and Office

Section 1. Name — The name of this Association shall be the Monument Builders of The Great Lakes

Section 2. **Office** — The Association shall maintain such executive offices as shall be determined by the Board of Trustees, and shall maintain a registered office as required by the laws of the State of Ohio.

ARTICLE II

Purposes

The purpose of the Association shall be:

- 1. To encourage, in the public interest, the knowledge and appreciation of memorialization.
- 2. To foster and maintain an association for the promotion and improvement of the art of memorialization.
- 3. To support educational programs directed to all segments of the memorialization industry.
- 4. To promote constructive relationships among all segments of the memorial industry, and to encourage on behalf of the public, freedom of choice of memorials, both as to type and source of supply at all cemeteries, whether public or private.
- 5. To promote and encourage cooperation and understanding in all relations within the memorial industry and with respect to industry relations with all segments of the interment industry.
- 6. To support research in product design, manufacture, installation, and marketing for the betterment of the memorial industry and the public.
- 7. To support fair and competitive practices and equal treatment under the law for all levels of the memorial industry.
- 8. To encourage the highest degree of business, professional, and ethical standards at all levels of the memorial industry.
- 9. To encourage members of the memorial industry to give support to their industry trade associations.
- 10. To do such things as the Board of Trustees deem proper and necessary in furtherance of the members' interests.

ARTICLE III

Membership

Section 1. **Classes** — There shall be five classes of membership:

- 1.1 Regular
- 1.2 Affiliate
- 1.3 Wholesaler/Supplier
- 1.4 Past Service
- 1.5 Honorary

Section 2. **Regular Membership** — Regular Membership is for a firm or corporation; not individuals. Regular Membership includes: three (3) Affiliate Membership seats, one of which will be designated as representative for voting purposes.

Regular Membership requires meeting the following qualifications:

- 2.1 Is engaged in the retail sale of monuments to the consumer.
- 2.2 A retailer is defined as a proprietorship, partnership, or corporation whose primary business is the sale of memorials to the public. The retailer will maintain a display of full-size monuments and markers and a storefront open to the public during business hours. Such retailer has shop facilities and personnel or equivalent arrangements for lettering and setting monuments and markers carried on display. Such retailer firm is not located in a cemetery, funeral home, or on property with special tax privileges, and holds itself out to sell and install monuments throughout the retail area in all cemeteries, not just to the clientele of one particular cemetery or funeral home.
- 2.3 Is financially sound.
- 2.4 Has a reputation for integrity and sound character.
- 2.5 Meets these and such other uniform requirements as may be established by the Board of Trustees. 2.7 Each Regular Member, individually or through its appointed representatives, shall have the right to vote on such matters as may be submitted to Regular members to vote, to hold office in accordance with Articles VII-VIII, and to have such other rights and privileges as may be established from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 3. **Affiliate Membership** — Affiliate Membership shall be available to any employee or person associated with any Regular member, and it shall also be available to any person providing service to or having an interest in common with the monument industry but who is, nevertheless, not otherwise eligible for Regular Membership. Affiliate members shall have such rights and privileges as may be established from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 4. Wholesale/Supplier Membership — Wholesale/Supplier Membership shall be available to any firm or company established as a wholesaler, or manufacturer of monuments, or who provides goods, services, or materials of any kind to or for retailers or wholesalers of monuments. Wholesale/Supplier Membership does not hold any voting seats in association.

Section 5. **Past Service Membership** — Past Service Membership shall be available to any person who formerly maintained any classification of membership in this Association and who is no longer actively engaged in business, but who nevertheless has a continued interest in the furtherance of the purposes of the Association. Past Service members shall have such rights and privileges as may be established from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 6. **Honorary Membership** — Honorary Membership shall be granted to those persons elected by the Board of Trustees based upon such criteria as may be adopted from time to time by the Board of Trustees. Honorary members shall have such rights and privileges as may be established from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 7. **Membership Applications** — Applications for membership shall be in writing addressed to the Vice President, accompanied by payment of current dues and, if properly made, shall entitle the applicant to membership on approval by the Vice President.

Section 8. **Voting** — Each Regular member shall appoint its representative in the Association who shall represent, vote, and act for the member in all affairs of the Association. Only the designated representative or in his/her absence, a designated alternate, shall be authorized to act as a voting representative of the Regular member. Every Regular member of the Association shall have the right to one vote. Voting shall be in persona and, except as hereinafter provided, shall be by voice or show of hands. A vote by ballot may be had by motion duly made, seconded, and passed by a simple majority. Proxy votes will be permitted if properly executed by the Regular member on a standard form stating the member's name, address, dues expiration date, bearing a valid signature, and the member's name who has the right to vote the proxy. No proxy shall be allowed for a referendum.

Section 9. **Multiple Operations** — Regular members who maintain more than one business location which otherwise standing alone are not eligible for additional voting membership seats.

Section 10. **Duration of Membership and Resignation** — Membership in this Association is valid for one calendar year from the time dues are received thru the end of the same calendar year. Membership may be renewed by paying dues 30 days prior to the end of the calendar year. Membership may be terminated by voluntary withdrawal, or otherwise pursuant to these bylaws. All rights, privileges, and interest of a member in or to the Association shall cease on the termination of membership. Any Member may, by giving written notice of such intention, withdraw from membership. Withdrawal shall be effective only, however, upon fulfillment of all obligations for the current quarter and payment of any special assessments, fees or other obligations due to the Association prior to the receipt of the notice of resignation.

Section 11. **Suspension and Expulsion** — Membership in the Association may be suspended or terminated for cause. Sufficient cause for such suspension or termination for membership may be in violation of these bylaws or any lawful rule or practice duly adopted by the Association, or any other conduct prejudicial to the best interests of this Association, or for other due cause. Suspension or expulsion shall be by majority vote of the entire Board of Trustees; provided, that a statement of the charges shall have been mailed to the last recorded address of the member at least fifteen days before the final action is to be taken by the Board of Trustees. This statement shall be accompanied by a notice of the time and place of the meeting of the Board of Trustees at which the charges shall be considered, and the member shall have the opportunity to appear in person or to be represented by counsel and to present any defense to such charges before action is taken by the Board of Trustees.

ARTICLE IV

Section 1. **Annual Meeting** — There shall be an annual meeting of Regular members of the Association held each calendar year as ordered by the Board of Trustees, for the election of officers, and Division and District meetings for the election of members of the Board of Trustees, and for the receiving of the annual reports, and for the transaction of other business. Notice of such meetings shall be mailed to the last recorded address of each Regular member or appear in the official publication of the Association at least 30 days before the time appointed for the meeting.

Section 2. **Special Meeting** — Special meetings of the Regular members of the Association may be called by the President or a majority of the Board of Trustees, or shall be called by the President upon the written request of ten percent of the Regular members. Notice of any special meetings shall be mailed to the last recorded address of each Regular member of appear in the official publication of the Association at least 10 days before the time appointed for the meeting with the statement of time and place of the meeting and information as to the subject matter to be considered. The business to be transacted at any special meetings shall be stated in the Notice, and no other business may be considered at that time.

Section 3. **Quorum** — Ten percent of the Regular members, present or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of Regular members. If a quorum is not present, a majority of the Regular members present may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without any further notice, until a quorum is present.

Section 4. **Rules and Procedures** — All meetings of the Association shall be governed by Parliamentary Law as set forth in Robert's Rules of Order (most recent edition) when it does not conflict with these bylaws.

Section 5. **Attendance** — At all meetings, members may be represented by any officer, partner, or principal or any member of the firm whom the member may delegate for the purpose. Guests shall be allowed at meetings only on approval of the presiding officer. Meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be open only to the officers, trustees, and past presidents of the Association, except by special invitation. Any member may address any meeting of the Board of Trustees or Executive Committee upon written request. Other meetings may be designated as limited or closed in accordance with procedures adopted by the Board of Trustees.

Section 6. **Referendum** — At the discretion of the Board of Trustees, any question may be submitted in writing to the Regular members for determination. Such writing shall consist of a ballot, stating the question to be determined with appropriate places at which the Regular members may indicate "approve" or "disapprove." Such ballots shall be mailed to each Regular member at the last recorded address shown in the official records of the Association. A majority vote taken on any issue thus presented shall be as binding as though taken at any duly constituted regular or special meeting of the Association, provided, however, a sufficient number of ballots are returned so as to constitute a quorum in accordance with these bylaws.

ARTICLE V

Dues and Assessments

Section 1. **Amount** — The amount of annual dues and assessments, if any, for any class of membership in the Association and the dates of payments therefore shall be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Section 2. **Failure to Pay** — Members who fail to pay their dues, assessments, fees, or other obligations due and owing to the Association within 60 days from the time they become due, without further notice and without hearing, shall be dropped from the membership rolls and thereupon immediately forfeit all rights and privileges of membership, provided, however, that the Board of Trustees may, by rule, prescribe procedures for extending the time for such payment and continuations of membership privileges upon request of a member and for good cause shown.

ARTICLE VI

Officers

Section 1. **Corporate Officers** — The corporate officers of this Association shall be a President, a President-Elect, four Vice Presidents, an Vice President and a Treasurer. With the exception of the Vice President, who shall be an employee or an independent contractor under contract with the Association, the four vice presidents and treasurer shall hold office for two years or until their successors are elected. The terms of the vice presidents shall be staggered with two vice presidents being elected each year. The President-Elect shall automatically succeed to the office of President at the next Annual Meeting of members after his/her election to the office of President-Elect.

Section 2. **Duties of the President** — The President shall be the chairman of the Board of Trustees. The President shall preside at all meetings of members of the Association, shall have general supervision, and direction of all corporate officers of the Association, and see that their duties are properly performed, and shall appoint all committees, and by virtue of his office shall be an ex officion member of all committees.

Section 3. **Duties of the President-Elect** — During the absence or disability of the President, the President-Elect shall exercise all powers and duties of the President and shall have such further powers and shall discharge such other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 4. **Duties of the Vice Presidents** — The Vice Presidents shall have such powers and shall discharge such duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 5. **Duties of the Treasurer** — The Treasurer shall consult with the Vice President concerning the financial condition of the Association, shall be attentive to fiscal problems, shall be the chairman of the Finance and Budget Committee, and shall discharge such other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 6. **Duties of the Vice President** — The Board of Trustees shall engage under contract an Vice President. Under its direction, the Vice President shall perform such administrative duties as shall be determined by the Board of Trustees or Executive Committee, shall be an ex officio member of the Board of Trustees, Executive Committee, all other Committees, Divisions, and Sections of the Association, shall keep minutes of all meetings of the Board of Trustees, and shall be the custodian of the records and files of the Association. The Vice President as an ex officio member shall have a voice but not a vote. The Vice President shall be paid such compensation as may be agreed upon between the Vice President and the Executive Committee, and the Vice President shall furnish, at the expense of the Association, a good sufficient bond of a surety company approved by the Board of Trustees to insure the faithful performance of his or her duties. In addition to such other duties as may devolve upon the Vice President, he/she shall have the responsibility to employ Legal Counsel and a Certified Public Accountant subject to approval of the Board of Trustees; and he/she shall have custody of all monies and securities delivered to the Vice President, shall keep books of account, shall deposit all such Association monies and securities in the name of and to the credit of the Association in such depositories as may be designated

by the Board of Trustees. The Vice President shall disburse such funds in payment of just demands against the Association, shall take and preserve proper receipts thereof, and shall render to the Trustees at their annual meeting, or at any other time when requested to do so, a statement of the financial condition of the Association.

Section 7. **Resignation** — If any Corporate Officer, with the exception of the President and the Vice President, resigns prior to the expiration of his/her term, the President, with the approval of the Executive Committee, shall appoint a replacement to serve out the balance of the unexpired term.

Section 8. **Resignation or Inability to Perform** — President: If the President resigns or is not able to fulfill his/her one-year term, the President-Elect shall assume the position of President for the remainder of the unexpired term. At the conclusion of the unexpired term, he/she shall continue to serve his/her duly elected one-year term as President. In this case, a President may serve up to a maximum of two years. President-Elect: If the President-Elect is not able to fulfill his/her one-year term, the President, with the approval of the Executive Committee, shall appoint a replacement to serve out the balance of the unexpired term.

ARTICLE VII

Board of Trustees

Section 1. **Composition** — The Board of Trustees shall be composed of:

- 1.1 The Immediate Past President, the President, the President-Elect, the Vice President, and the Treasurer.
- 1.2 One Regular retailer member representative to represent each District as established by these bylaws elected by the Regular members of each District.

Section 2. **Terms of Office** — Trustees shall take office when installed at the Annual Meeting of this Association, and shall hold office in accordance with the provisions of the bylaws. Trustees, upon election and installation at the annual meeting, shall immediately enter upon the performance of their duties and shall continue in office for a term of two years and until their successors shall be duly elected. Trustees from even numbered Districts shall be elected in even numbered years; those from odd numbered Districts shall be elected in odd numbered years.

2.1 All current (as of June 2025) District Trustees' will have their terms of office end effective at the Association's Annual Meeting in 2025. The 2025 elections will have even numbered District Trustees elected with a one-year term and the odd numbered District Trustees elected with a two-year term until the rotation is back to the even/odd numbered rotation described in Article VIII, Section 2.

Section 3. **Duties of Board of Trustees** — The management of affairs, property, and interests of the Association shall be vested in the Board of Trustees so elected. The Board of Trustees shall have supervision, control, and direction of the affairs of the association, shall determine its policies or changes therein within the limits of these bylaws, shall actively prosecute the Association's purposes, and shall have discretion in the disbursement of its funds. The Board of Trustees may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of its business and shall be deemed advisable and may in the execution of the powers granted, appoint such agents as it may consider necessary. The Board of Trustees may also adopt a statement of policy regarding relationships with other segments of the interment industry.

Section 4. **Meetings** — Except that the Board of Trustees shall have a regular meeting at the time and place of the annual meeting of the Association, the Board shall be called to meet upon the demand of at least 40% of its members, or a majority of the Executive Committee, meeting at such time and place as designated by the President or Vice President. Notice of all meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be mailed to each member of the Board at his or her last recorded address or appear in an official publication of the Association at least 10 days in advance of such meetings.

Section 5. **Quorum** — A majority of the members of the Board of Trustees then in the office shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Board. Any fewer may adjourn from time to time until a quorum is present.

Section 6. **Compensation** — Trustees, as such, shall not receive any compensation for their services as Trustees, but the Board may by resolution authorize reimbursement of expenses incurred during the performance of their duties as a member of the Executive Committee or as otherwise authorized by the Board of Trustees. Such authorization may prescribe procedures for approval and payment of such expenses by designated officers of the Association. Nothing herein shall preclude a Trustee from serving the Association in any other capacity and receiving compensation for such services.

Section 7. **Resignation** — Any Trustee may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President or to the Board of Trustees. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no time is specified, at the time of acceptance there of as determined by the President or the Board. Any Trustee who resigns may be replaced by the members of the District that Trustee represents. If the members of the District do not name a replacement within 30 days of the vacancy, the President, after consultation with members of that District, shall appoint a new Trustee, subject to confirmation by the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE VIII

Election Procedures

Section 1. **Nominating Committee** — The President shall appoint a Nominating Committee of which the President and Immediate Past President shall be members. The Nominating Committee and Trustees shall receive a list not later than the specified date published in an official publication of all nominations, and the Trustees' input to the Nominating Committee shall be encouraged. The members of the Nominating Committee shall consult with Trustees and members, and as a result of such investigation and consultation, present nominations for those Officers to be elected. Such nominations shall be published to the membership at least 30 days in advance of the Annual Membership Meeting of the Regular members of the Association. The Committee shall consist of no fewer than six members.

Section 2. **Other Nominations** — Other nominations may be made by a petition signed by not fewer than 20 Regular members. Such petitions must be filed with the President or Vice President at least twenty-four hours before the time established for the start of the Annual Membership Meeting of the Regular members of the Association.

Section 3. **Election** — At the Annual Membership Meeting of Regular members, those persons nominated by both the Nominating Committee and by petition shall be presented in accordance with procedures established by the Executive Committee. Thereafter, a vote by individual office, in the case of contested positions, shall be conducted. Any candidate receiving the largest number of votes in excess of a majority of the votes cast shall be declared elected. If no candidate receives a majority of the votes cast, a runoff shall be conducted by ballot between those two individuals receiving the highest number of votes during the first vote.

ARTICLE VI

Districts

Districts are to be established in order to best serve our membership and will be defined in the first annual meeting in 2025.

ARTICLE X

Committees

Section 1. **Appointment** — The President, subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees or Executive Committee, shall annually appoint such standing or special committees or sub-committees, including the chairman of each, as may be required by these bylaws or as the President may find necessary.

Section 2. **Executive Committee** — The Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees shall consist of the Immediate Past President, President, President, President, Fresident, F

Section 3. **Finance Budget Committee** — The Finance and Budget Committee shall be chaired by the Treasurer and shall have at least two additional members who are also Trustees. The Finance and Budget Committee shall work with the Vice President to oversee the financial affairs of the Association, including the annual budget of the Association and such other financial matters as may be requested by the Board of Trustees or Executive Committee.

ARTICLE XI

Indemnification of Officers and Trustees

Section 1. **Power to Indemnify** — The Association shall have the power to indemnify any person who is or was a trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Association or who is or was serving at the request of the Association as a trustee, director, officer, employee, or agent of another association, corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise to the full extent permitted by law.

Section 2. **Liability Insurance** — The Association may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Association, or who is or was serving at the request of the Association as a trustee, director, officer, employee or agent of another association, corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him/her and incurred by him/her in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the Association would have the power to indemnify him or her against such liability.

ARTICLE XII

Miscellaneous

Section 1. Fiscal Year — The fiscal year of the Association shall be as established by the Board of Trustees.

Section 2. **Use of Funds and Dissolution** — The Association shall use its funds only to accomplish the objectives and purposes specified in these bylaws, and no part of its funds shall inure or be distributed to the members of the Association. On dissolution of the Association, any funds remaining shall be distributed to one or more regularly organized and qualified professional societies, trade association, charitable, educational, scientific, or philanthropic organizations to be selected by the Board of Trustees.

ARTICLE XIII

Section 1. **Amendments** — The bylaws may be repealed, amended in whole or in part, or new provisions adopted by majority vote of the Regular members present in person, or by proxy, at any regular meeting or any special meeting called for that purpose, provided written notice of the nature of the proposal shall have been sent to all Regular members at least thirty days prior to any such meeting or by voting in a referendum conducted in accordance with these bylaws. A bylaws amendment shall be submitted to the Bylaws Committee for review and recommendation regarding its form and substance, and relationship to the other bylaws provisions. The Bylaws Committee shall submit any proposed amendment to the Board of Trustees, or Executive Committee acting while the Board is not in session, for its review and recommendation. Following Board action, the amendment shall be submitted to the membership for its consideration.

Section 2. **Effective Date** — Any action relative to changes in the bylaws shall become effective upon the date adopted or as otherwise provided.

STATEMENT OF POLICY

MONUMENT BUILDERS OF THE GREAT LAKES

Whereas, the Board of Trustees and membership has historically sponsored programs the design of which is to encourage fair trade practices among all who are engaged in the sale of memorials to the consumer; and Whereas, the Courts of these United States have from time to time made judicial pronouncements which provide guidance to those engaged in competitive business in their dealings with each other and with consumers as to proper, lawful, and equitable conduct; and Whereas, this Association as a matter of policy and philosophy advocates the view that equality among competitors requires equality of tax treatment; that tax advantage or exemption should only be afforded to promote the public need or necessity in the providing of vital services; but should not be afforded for the purpose of promoting competitive advantage.

Therefore, it has been resolved by this Association as follows:

- 1. It is the policy of this Association to oppose cemetery regulations or practices which restrict or tend to limit the lot owner from purchasing memorials from anyone lawfully engaged in the retail sale of memorials.
- 2. It is the policy of this Association to oppose any cemetery regulation or practice, the imposition of which tends to stifle fair competition or constitutes an unfair competitive practice, as such practices may from time to time be defined by the statues of the United States or the statutes or judicial decisions of the particular state in which such cemetery may be located.
- 3. It is the policy of this Association to oppose the granting of tax advantage or exemption in such fashion as to benefit the commercial sale of memorials by tax exempt cemeteries. This Association is philosophically committed to the concept that the sale of memorials is an independent enterprise and not an integral function of or necessary to the proper management of a cemetery.
- 4. It is the policy of this Association to encourage wholesalers and manufacturers to sell their products for resale in a competitive retail market and to discourage any practice which arbitrarily restricts the availability of such products at the retail level.

By the adoption of the foregoing resolution, it is the intent that the resources and facilities of this Association shall be used in the proper implementation of these policies.